2009

Larsen Beverage and/or Globe Indemnity
Company v. Labor Commission of Utah;
Employer's Reinsurance Fund and/or Danna
Hutchison : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

This Petition for Review by Appellants, Larsen Beverage Company and/or Globe Indemnity Company, is from a final order of the Labor Commission of Utah dated November 30, 2009. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §§ 34A-2-801(8)(a), 63G-4-403, and 78-2a-3(2)(a) (2010).

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. **ISSUE FOR REVIEW:** Did the Commission commit error in failing to apply Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-69 (1993) in ordering medical and indemnity benefits to be paid in this case?

Standard of review: Under Utah Code Ann. § 63G-4-403 (4)(d), the Court of Appeals may grant relief from an agency action if the agency "has erroneously interpreted or applied the law." Whether an agency has properly interpreted or applied agency-specific law is reviewed for correctness. Harrington v. Industrial Comm'n, 942 P.2d 961, 963 (Utah Ct. App. 1997); Terry v. Ret. Bd., 2007 UT App 87, P7 (Utah Ct. App. 2007); Drake v. Industrial Comm'n, 939 P.2d 177, 181 (Utah 1997).

2. **ISSUE FOR REVIEW:** Did the Labor Commission's omission of the Pre-Trial Disclosures filed by Larsen Beverage from the record, which outlines the issue pending before the court including the argument for Employer's Reinsurance Fund reimbursement, violate Larsen's right to due process and require remand of this matter?

Standard of review: Due process challenges are questions of law that an appellate court reviews applying a correction of error standard. Color Country Mgmt. v. Labor Comm'n, 2001 UT App 370 (Utah Ct. App. 2001).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

The determinative law is Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-67 (1993). This section reads as follows:

35-1-67. Permanent total disability -- Amount of payments -- Rehabilitation.

- (1)
 - (a) In cases of permanent total disability caused by, industrial accident, the employee shall receive compensation as outlined in this section.
 - (b) Permanent total disability for purposes of this chapter requires a finding by the commission of total disability, as measured by the substance of the sequential decision making process of the Social Security Administration under Title 20 of the Code of Federal Regulations as revised.
 - (c) The commission shall adopt rules that conform to the substance of the sequential decision-making process of the Social Security Administration under 20 C.F.R. Subsections 404.1520 (b), (c), (d), (e), and (f)(1) and (2), as revised.
- (2) For permanent total disability compensation during the initial 312-week entitlement, compensation shall be 66 2/3% of the employee's average weekly wage at the time of the injury, limited as follows:
 - (a) Compensation per week may not be more than 85% of the state average weekly wage at the time of the injury.
 - (b) Compensation per week may not be less than the sum of \$45 per week, plus \$5 for a dependent spouse, plus \$5 for each dependent child under the age of 18 years, up to a maximum of four such dependent minor children, but not exceeding the maximum established in Subsection (a) nor exceeding the average weekly wage of the employee at the time of the injury.

- (c) After the initial 312 weeks, the minimum weekly compensation rate under Subsection (b) shall be 36% of the current state average weekly wage, rounded to the nearest dollar.
- (3) (a) The employer or its insurance carrier is liable for the initial 312 weeks of permanent total disability compensation except as outlined in Section 35-1-69.
- (b) The employer or its insurance carrier may not be required to pay compensation for any combination of disabilities of any kind, as provided in this section and Sections 35-1-65, 35-1-65.1, 35-1-66, and 35-1-66.1 through 35-1-66.7 in excess of the amount of compensation payable over 312 weeks at the applicable permanent total disability compensation rate under Subsection (2).
- (c) **Any overpayment of this compensation shall be reimbursed to the employer or its insurance carrier by the Employers' Reinsurance Fund and shall be paid out of the Employers' Reinsurance Fund's liability to the employee.**
- (4) (a) After an employee has received compensation from his employer, its insurance carrier, or the Employers' Reinsurance Fund for any combination of disabilities amounting to 312 weeks of compensation at the applicable permanent total disability compensation rate, the Employers' Reinsurance Fund shall pay all remaining permanent total disability compensation.
- (b) Employers Reinsurance Fund payments shall commence immediately after the employer or its insurance carrier has satisfied its liability under Subsection (3) or Section 35-1-69.
-
- (5) **A finding by the commission of permanent total disability shall in all cases be tentative and not final until all of the following proceedings have occurred:**
 - (a) (i) Upon tentatively determining that an employee is permanently and totally disabled, the commission shall,

unless otherwise agreed by the parties, refer the employee to the Utah State Office of Rehabilitation under the State Board for Applied Technology Education for rehabilitation training.

- (ii) The commission shall order that an amount be paid out of the Employers' Reinsurance Fund provided for by Subsection 35-1-68(1), not to exceed \$3,000 for use in the rehabilitation and training of the employee.
- (b)
 - (i) If the Utah State Office of Rehabilitation under the State Board for Applied Technology Education certifies to the commission in writing that the employee has fully cooperated with that agency in its efforts to rehabilitate the employee, and in the opinion of the agency, the employee is not able to be rehabilitated, the commission shall, after notice to the parties, hold a hearing to consider the agency's opinion as well as other evidence regarding rehabilitation.
 - (ii) The parties may waive the right to a hearing.
 - (iii) If a preponderance of the evidence shows that successful rehabilitation is not possible, the commission shall order that the employee be paid weekly permanent total disability compensation benefits.
 - (iv) The period of benefits commences on the date the employee became permanently:: totally disabled, as determined by the commission based on the facts and evidence, and ends with the death of the employee or when the employee is capable of returning to regular, steady work.
 - (v) In any case where an employee has been rehabilitated or the employee's rehabilitation is possible, but where the employee has some loss of bodily function, the award shall be for permanent partial disability.

- (vi) An employee is not entitled to compensation, unless the employee fully cooperates with any rehabilitation effort under this section.

.....

Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-67 (1993) (Emphasis added).

Additionally, Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-69 (1993) provides in relevant part:

35-1-69. Payment from employers - Reinsurance fund.

- (1) If an employee, who has at least a 10% whole person permanent impairment from any cause or origin, subsequently incurs an additional impairment by accident arising out of and in the course of the employee's employment, and if the additional impairment results in permanent total disability, the employer or its insurance carrier and the Employer's Reinsurance Fund are liable for the payment as follows:
- (2) **The employer or its insurance carrier is liable for the first \$20,000 of medical benefits and the initial three years of permanent total disability as provided by this title.**
- (3) **Reasonable medical expenses in excess of the first \$20,000 shall be paid in the first instance by the employer or its insurance carrier. Then, as provided in Subsection (6), the Employer's Reinsurance Fund shall reimburse the employer or its insurance carrier for 50% of those expenses.**

- (4) After the initial three year period under Subsection (1), permanent total disability payable to an employee under this title becomes the liability of and shall be paid by the Employer's Reinsurance Fund.
- (5) If it is determined that the employee is permanently and totally disabled, the employer or its insurance carrier shall be given credit for all prior payments of temporary total, temporary partial, and permanent partial disability compensation made as a result of the industrial accident. Any overpayment shall be reimbursed by the Employer's Reinsurance Fund under Subsection (6).

. . . .

Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-69 (1993) (Emphasis added).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This appeal presents the question of whether the Commission erred in determining that an employer / carrier was responsible for all workers compensation medical expenses resulting from an accident that occurred on August 23, 1993, without any entitlement to reimbursement for any past or future payments of medical or indemnity benefits from the Employer's Reinsurance Fund, when the applicable statute clearly allows for reimbursement and contribution.

Statement of Facts

Dana Hutchison was injured in an industrial accident on August 23, 1993 while working for Larsen Beverage. (R., 1). Ms. Hutchison was lifting a fountain beverage machine into a company truck when she sustained injury to her low back. (R., 1)

Previously, in 1986 following a 1984 basketball injury, Ms. Hutchison had a discectomy at L5-S1 which qualifies for a 10% whole person impairment based on the Labor Commission Impairment Guides. (Utah Guides, 3.3b, II-C). This fact has remained undisputed throughout this litigation and has been stipulated to by the parties in this case (R., 52-54).

Ms. Hutchison failed conservative care following the August 23, 1994 accident and in January 1994 she underwent a two level discectomy and fusion from L4-5 through L5-S1 from Dr. Schleusener. (R., Vol 2, MRE, 67-71). She also underwent a surgery in December 1995 removing the hardware. (R., Vol. 2, MRE, 73). Dr. Prasad did a repeat fusion in February 1999. (R., Vol. 2, MRE, 48).

On December 9, 1999 Dr. Joseph Dall found that as a result of the industrial accident of August 23, 1993, Ms. Hutchison had a 20% permanent partial disability due to having three low back surgeries after this accident. (R., Vol. 2, MRE, 92).

On March 4, 2004 an Independent Medical Evaluation of Dr. Dall opined that Ms. Hutchison is "totally disabled". (R., Vol. 2, MRE, 107). Ms. Hutchison was paid compensation from Larsen through its worker's compensation carrier through February 2004.

Given Ms. Hutchisons' inability to continue gainful employment since the industrial accident, she filed an Application for Hearing for workers compensation benefits on July 2, 2004 through legal counsel, Timothy Allen.

Course of the Proceedings

On July 2, 2004, by and through counsel, Timothy Allen, Danna Hutchison filed an Application for Hearing claiming entitlement to permanent total disability compensation arising from an industrial accident on August 23, 1993 with Larsen Beverage. (R., 1).

On August 11, 2004, employer/carrier, Larsen Beverage and/or Globe Indemnity Co., (hereinafter "Larsen") by and through counsel, Mark D. Dean, filed an Answer admitting that Ms. Hutchison was permanently and totally disabled under Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-67 (1993) and submitted that reimbursements of medical expenses and compensation from the Employer's Reinsurance Fund was appropriate under Utah law. (R., 40).

In the Answer, Larsen noted that they have paid indemnity compensation of \$68,314.12 as a result of the August 23, 1993 accident and medical expenses of \$551.664. On this basis, under the applicable law, Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-69 (1993), Larsen requested indemnity reimbursement of \$32,902.02 and medical expense reimbursement of \$265,832.00.¹

¹ Since then, the amount has increased in medical expenses as Larsen has paid over \$986,000 in medical expenses.

The parties met on March 30, 2005 in a Labor Commission sponsored Mediation attempting to negotiate settlement prior proceeding on to an evidentiary hearing at the Labor Commission. The Employer's Reinsurance Fund participated in this Mediation. Larsen contended that Ms Hutchison had a 10% whole person permanent partial impairment from a low back surgery in 1986. Larsen, (as the employer and carrier for the claimed industrial accident) was seeking reimbursement and contribution by the Employer's Reinsurance Fund due to the application of Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-67 and 35-1-69 (1993). No final agreement was reached by the parties at the March 30, 2005 mediation.

Rather than leave Danna Hutchison in a suspended state without benefits during the worker's compensation litigation process, the parties agreed that the Employers Reinsurance Fund would pay permanent total disability benefits and the Larsen would continue to pay medical benefits on a **tentative** basis, until such time that the matter of permanent total disability benefits and reimbursement could be determined by the hearing process by an Administrative Law Judge. This document was drafted by Petitioner's attorney Timothy Allen.

On April 29, 2005 Administrative Law Judge, Donald George issued an order approving the parties *Stipulation and Order of Tentative*

Permanent and Total Disability (hereinafter the “Stipulation and Tentative Order”). (R., 52-55). In the Stipulation section of the Stipulation and Tentative Order, the parties agreed that Larsen shall be responsible for all medical expenses resulting from the industrial accident of August 23, 1993 subject to the fee schedule of the Labor Commission. (R., 53). This provision was not incorporated into the “Stipulated Order” section of the document.

The Stipulation and Tentative Order specifically states in relevant part:

STIPULATION:

....

4. ... parties conclude that the Applicant is entitled to a tentative finding of permanent total disability.

5. That the Applicant be referred to the Utah State Office of Rehabilitation Services for rehabilitation training as provided by Section 35-1-67, Utah Code Annotated.

6. That the Employer’s Reinsurance Fund place the Applicant on the fund payroll and pay permanent total disability benefits at the rate of \$227 per week commencing March 1, 2004 and continue until further order of the Commission. Accrued amounts shall include 8% interest.

....

7. That Globe Indemnity Company **shall be responsible for all medical expenses resulting from the industrial accident of August 23, 1993 subject to the Fee Scheduled of the Labor Commission.**

STIPULATED ORDER:

Based upon the foregoing Stipulation, and good cause appearing therefore,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Employer's Reinsurance Fund pay Danna Hutchison permanent total disability compensation at the rate of \$227 per week commencing March 1, 2004, with accrued amounts due in a lump sum plus 8% interest, less attorneys fees to Timothy C. Alle in accordance with Labor Commission sliding scale. Said benefits to continue until further order of the Labor Commission.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Applicant is hereby referred to the Utah State Office of Rehabilitation for rehabilitation training as provided in Section 36-1-67 Utah Code Ann (1993). Upon receipt of the rehabilitation report the Commission will hold such further proceedings as are indicated..

(R.53-54) (Emphasis added).

Despite the fact that the medical expense provision was not recited by the ALJ in the Stipulated Order page, Larsen has continued to pay ongoing medical expenses for this accident through the present time.

The Stipulation and Tentative Order was entered into to provide temporary medical expenses to Danna Hutchison while the pending permanent total disability was reviewed by vocational rehabilitation per the applicable 1993 law.² In addition, under the Stipulation and Tentative Order, the Employer's Reinsurance Fund was responsible for

² Under the 1993 law, a finding of permanent total disability is considered "tentative" and not final until an injured worker is evaluated by the Utah State Office of Vocational Rehabilitation. See Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-67 (1993).

payment of permanent total disability *until* further order of the court.

The Stipulation and Tentative Order did not address the issue of reimbursement of medical expenses to Larsen since it was only intended as a tentative order. Moreover, the actual Order page (R., 53) only orders the Employer's Reinsurance Fund to pay permanent total disability. It does *not* order Larsen to pay ongoing medical benefits at all.

Thereafter, Ms. Hutchison failed to present for evaluation for rehabilitation and the ALJ issued an Order terminating permanent total disability benefits. (R., 64-67). Eventually, Petitioner cooperated and the ALJ issued an Order Reinstating Permanent Total Disability compensation on April 12, 2006. (R., 71-73).

On September 25, 2006, Ms. Hutchison filed an Evaluation Report from Utah State Office of Rehabilitation. On October 5, 2006, the Labor Commission set a hearing for January 26, 2007 to consider the Opinion of the Utah State Office of Rehabilitation Pursuant to Utah Code Section 35-1-67(5)(6).

Prior to hearing, on December 15, 2006, Attorney Dean filed Pre-Trial Disclosures for Petitioners asserting that Larsen Beverage and/or Globe Indemnity Co. did not dispute that Petitioner was permanent total disabled but rather, Ms. Hutchison had a 10% pre-existing condition

prior to the August 25, 1993, which was agreed upon by all parties, pursuant to the Stipulation and Order of Tentative Permanent and Total Disability. The Employer's Reinsurance Fund did not file any pre-trial disclosures. At that time, Larsen noted they had paid compensation benefits related to the industrial accident totaling \$68,314.12 and medical expenses totaling \$551,664.16. Larsen specifically requested that the ALJ apply the specific statutory provisions which limit liability to 156 weeks for indemnity compensation and reimbursement of 50% of all excess past and future medical expenses from the Employer's Reinsurance Fund over the first \$20,000. (Upon checking out the appellate Record on January 18, 2010 for completion of the Docketing Statement, Larsen's legal counsel discovered that the Pre-trial disclosure form filed by Larsens is not contained in the Record, although proof of service is contained in Larsen's attorneys file and conversations with the Commission show that it was entered in their system). This was since corrected on appeal upon motion of Larsen. (R., 105a-b).

A hearing was later held on January 29, 2007 before Judge George pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-67(5). Interestingly, the ALJ's Final Order of Permanent Total Disability lists that it was held "BEFORE: Richard M. LaJeunesse" which is not correct. At the hearing before

Judge Donald George, Larsen did not contest that Ms. Hutchison is permanent totally disabled. Larsen, through its counsel, Mark Dean, argued that the ALJ should apply the statutory provisions of 35-1-67 and 35-1-69 which allow for 156 weeks of compensation and medical reimbursement if the injured worker has at least a 10% pre-existing condition for any cause or origin which was well documented in the medical records. There was no disagreement from Danna Hutchison³ nor the Employer's Reinsurance Fund. In fact, the Employer's Reinsurance Fund and its counsel failed to participate in the hearing on this matter, despite its Attorney receiving proper notice. (See Hearing Transcript; Vol. 5, R. 102).

The January 29, 2007 Hearing Transcript reflects the following testimony with Judge Donald George:

THE COURT: This is a matter before the Utah Labor Commission. This is the case of Danna Hutchison versus Larsen Beverage and/or the Employers' Reinsurance Fund and Globe Indemnity Company. This matter was set for hearing to consider the opinion of the Utah State Office of Rehabilitation pursuant to Utah Code section 35-1-67 subsection 5 subsection 6. Previously in this case (inaudible) an order was entered with a tentative finding of permanent total disability in this matter. The only matter remaining to be considered was the opinion from the Office of Vocational Rehabilitation. I will note that present today we have Ms. Hutchison; is that correct?

³ Ms. Hutchison's attorney did not appear at the hearing.

MS. HUTCHISON: Yes.

THE COURT: And Mr. Dean, you're representing Globe Indemnity?

MR. DEAN: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: I will note that Mr. Allen has not appeared in this case on behalf of Ms. Hutchison; and Mr. Barnes has not appeared either on behalf of Employers' Reinsurance Fund. Mr. Dean, go ahead and state the of Globe Indemnity in this case then.

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