2009

Larsen Beverage and/or Global Indemnity Company v. Labor Commission of Utah; Employers' Reinsurance Fund; and Danna Hutchison : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT

I. The Labor Commission Properly Affirmed the Order Because Larsen Beverage Agreed to the Relief Granted.

Larsen Beverage first claims that the ALJ and Labor Commission erred by rejecting Larsen Beverage’s claim for reimbursement of medical expenses from ERF. (Br. of Appellants at 23.) Larsen Beverage argues that reimbursement was required

because its agreement in the Stipulated Order to pay Ms. Hutchison's medical expenses was tentative. Larsen Beverage argues, in essence, that the Stipulated Order is ambiguous. (Br. of Appellants at 30.) It is not. Essentially, Larsen Beverage's claim is that because the Stipulated Order contains the word "tentative," referring to Ms. Hutchison's disability status, all other provisions of the agreement are also tentative. This argument should be rejected because it contravenes the plain terms of the Stipulated Order.

Courts are ordinarily bound by stipulations between the parties. *Yeargin, Inc. v. Auditing Div. of the Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 2001 UT 11, ¶ 19, 20 P.3d 287. *See also Tracy-Collins Bank & Trust Co. v. Travelstead*, 592 P.2d 605, 607 (Utah 1979) (noting that "[s]ettlements are favored, and should be encouraged," and that "[i]t is quite well established" courts have authority to enforce settlement agreements). Similarly binding are stipulations entered into in administrative proceedings. *Yeargin, Inc. v. Auditing Div. of the Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 2001 UT 11, ¶ 19, 20 P.3d 287.²

² The *Yeargin* court also noted that courts are hesitant "to relieve a party from a stipulation negotiated and entered into with the advice of counsel" and that a stipulation should only be set aside under certain conditions, including a showing "that the stipulation was entered into inadvertently." *Yeargin, Inc. v. Auditing Div. of the Utah State Tax Comm'n*, 2001 UT 11, ¶ 21, 20 P.3d 287 (quotation marks omitted). Inadvertence, however, "cannot be the basis for repudiation when the mistake was due to failure to exercise due diligence, [or if it could] have been avoided by the exercise of ordinary care." *Id.*, 20 P.3d 287 (alteration in original and quotation marks omitted). The court stated that "it is unlikely that a stipulation signed by counsel and filed with the court was entered into inadvertently." *Id.*, 20 P.3d 287 (quotation marks omitted).

As Larsen Beverage correctly points out, the general rules of contract interpretation guide a court's analysis of a stipulation or settlement agreement. A court's purpose in construing a contract is to ascertain the parties' intentions, which are controlling, and courts look to the writing itself to ascertain those intentions. *WebBank v. Am. Gen. Annuity Serv. Corp.*, 2002 UT 88, ¶¶ 17-18, 54 P.3d 1139. Where the language used in the contract is unambiguous, "the parties' intentions are determined from the plain meaning of the contractual language, and the contract may be interpreted as a matter of law." *Saleh v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 2006 UT 20, ¶ 21, 133 P.3d 428 (quotation marks omitted). A contractual term or provision is ambiguous "if it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation because of uncertain meanings of terms, missing terms, or other facial deficiencies." *Daines v. Vincent*, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 25, 190 P.3d 1269 (quotation marks omitted).

The terms of the Stipulated Order are plain and unambiguous; they clearly set forth the parties' intentions. After setting forth the underlying facts, the Stipulated Order provides that "based on her impairment from the accident of August 23, 1993, the parties conclude [Ms. Hutchison] is entitled to a tentative finding of permanent total disability." (R. at 53.) The parties acknowledged that Ms. Hutchison would "be referred to the Utah State Office of Rehabilitation Services for rehabilitation training as provided by Section 35-1-67." (R. at 53.) ERF agreed to place Ms. Hutchison on its payroll and pay her "permanent total disability benefits at the rate of \$227 per week commencing March 1, 2004 and continuing until further order of the Labor Commission." (R. at 53.) Larsen

Beverage agreed to “be responsible for all medical expenses resulting from the industrial accident of August 23, 1993.” (R. at 53.) In the order portion of the Stipulated Order, Judge George ordered ERF to pay Ms. Hutchison permanent total disability benefits with “[s]aid benefits to continue until further order of the Labor Commission.” (R. at 54.) He also ordered Ms. Hutchison to attend rehabilitation training. (R. at 54.) Significantly, counsel for all parties signed the Stipulated Order confirming their “APPROVAL OF STIPULATION AND ORDER.” (R. at 55 (emphasis added).)

There is no ambiguity with respect to Larsen Beverage’s obligation. It agreed to pay all of Ms. Hutchison’s medical expenses. This obligation was not conditional and “all” is not an ambiguous term, *see Novell, Inc. v. Canopy Group, Inc.*, 2004 UT App 162, ¶ 28, 92 P.3d 768. Larsen Beverage points to the word “tentative” and the term “until further order of the Labor Commission” to argue that its duty was conditional. (*E.g.*, Br. of Appellants at 30, 33-34.) Each instance cited by Larsen Beverage, however, relates to an obligation of Ms. Hutchison or ERF regarding rehabilitation and permanent total disability benefits. The Stipulated Order does not provide Larsen Beverage’s obligation will continue until further order of the Labor Commission nor does it condition the obligation to pay medical benefits upon some future event. The Stipulated Order contains no provision allowing the parties to revisit their division of responsibility. The sole contingency was Ms. Hutchison’s obligation to attend vocational rehabilitation and the effect that might have on payments by ERF. Larsen Beverage has not advanced a contrary interpretation of the Stipulated Order that is reasonably supported by its terms.

See Daines v. Vincent, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 26, 190 P.3d 1269. It unambiguously agreed to pay all of Ms. Hutchison's medical expenses. As the Labor Commission held, "[t]he evidence does not support Larsen[Beverage]'s position that it agreed to be bound based on tentative conditions. (R. at 131.)

Larsen Beverage also argues that because the order portion of the Stipulated Order does not mention the obligation to pay medical benefits, such an obligation must not exist. (Br. of Appellants at 34.) This argument, however, proves too much. Under the law in effect in 1993, a finding of permanent total disability was in all cases tentative until the injured worker underwent an evaluation by the Utah State Office of Rehabilitation. Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-67(5) (1993). Thus, the finding of Ms. Hutchison's permanent total disability was tentative until she could undergo the evaluation. Judge George ordered her to do so. Because the finding of permanent total disability was tentative, the duration of ERF's promise to pay permanent total disability was left open, conditioned on the results of Ms. Hutchison's rehabilitation. Those were the only two provisions which were conditional and the only two that needed to be recited in the order portion of the Stipulated Order. The remaining terms of the parties' bargain, including Larsen Beverage's promise to pay all medical expenses, were already finalized and no further order was necessary.

Larsen Beverage's reliance on *Empey v. Industrial Commission*, 63 P.2d 630 (Utah 1937), and *Continental Casualty Co. v. Industrial Commission*, 210 P. 127 (Utah 1922), is misplaced. (See Br. of Appellants at 35 & nn.6-7.) While those decisions

provide that the Labor Commission does not have jurisdiction to reform an agreement, they did not hold that “the Commission does not even have the jurisdictional ability to enforce or interpret contractual provisions” as claimed by Larsen Beverage. (See Br. of Appellants at 35.) In fact, the *Continental Casualty* court expressly held that the Labor Commission has the authority to enforce a contract.³ The court there held that with respect to an insurance contract, “[t]he commission had no power to do otherwise than to enforce and apply its terms.” *Cont’l Cas. Co. v. Indus. Comm’n*, 210 P. 127, 129 (Utah 1922) (emphasis added). The court further stated that it is “the duty of the commission to enforce the letter of the contract.” *Cont’l Cas. Co. v. Indus. Comm’n*, 210 P. 127, 129 (Utah 1922) (emphasis added).

Larsen Beverage’s argument is further inapposite because it is based on the incorrect assumption that the ALJ and Labor Commission rewrote the Stipulated Order. They did not. They simply enforced the agreement as written, as they are empowered and, indeed, required, to do. Enforcement of the Stipulated Order will not discourage the provision of temporary benefits to injured workers as Larsen Beverage predicts. It may, however, encourage parties to be careful when entering into contracts.

Larsen Beverage also claims that the “confusion” regarding the interpretation of the Stipulated Order may have resulted from the transfer of the case from Judge George

³ The language quoted by Larsen Beverage in footnote 6 of its brief is itself a quotation by the *Empey* court of the holding in *Continental Casualty*. See *Empey v. Indus. Comm’n*, 63 P.2d 630, 635 (Utah 1937).

to Judge La Jeunesse. (Br. of Appellants at 29.) Larsen Beverage seems to argue that this transfer occurred after the January 2007 hearing. Nothing in the Record, however, supports the argument that Judge George presided at the January 2007 hearing. The Record suggests just the opposite--i.e., that it was Judge La Jeunesse who presided at the hearing. The transfer of the case to Judge La Jeunesse followed Judge George's retirement which occurred more than a year before the hearing. (*See supra* note 1.)

Even if Judge George did preside at the hearing, that fact provides no relief to Larsen Beverage. While the ALJ may have indicated at the hearing he would consider issuing an order of reimbursement, no order of reimbursement ever issued. Rather, after having a chance to carefully review the file, including the Stipulated Order, Judge La Jeunesse determined that Larsen Beverage already stipulated to payments that made reimbursement unnecessary and held Larsen Beverage to its agreement. Courts are free to reconsider or change their prior rulings at any time before final resolution of the case. *See, e.g.*, U.R.C.P. 54(b); *Trembly v. Mrs. Fields Cookies*, 884 P.2d 1306, 1310-11 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). Larsen Beverage's claim that the ALJ overlooked or was unaware of its claim for reimbursement is speculative at best.⁴ Larsen Beverage's stipulation made it unnecessary to make findings under the allocation statute--Larsen Beverage agreed "be responsible for all medical expenses resulting from the industrial accident." (R. at 53.)

⁴ Neither is their Record support for the claim that the Labor Commission overlooked Larsen Beverage's request for reimbursement. (*See* Br. of Appellants at 30.) The Labor Commission specifically addressed Larsen Beverage's argument "that it is entitled to reimbursement and allocation for medical expenses." (R. at 131.)

The Order was plainly not the effect of any confusion following the transfer of the case to Judge La Jeunesse.

The ALJ and Labor Commission had no obligation to order reimbursement of medical expenses under the statute because Larsen Beverage agreed to pay “all” of them. *See Pacheco v. Indus. Comm’n*, 668 P.2d 553, 555 (Utah 1983) (affirming Labor Commission’s enforcement of settlement agreement and decision not to award statutory interest available to claimants under the Workers’ Compensation Act where parties did not include a provision for interest in their agreement). Larsen Beverage has failed to identify any authority requiring reimbursement or application of section 35-1-67(5) (1993) in all cases.

In essence, Larsen Beverage waived its claim for reimbursement. Waiver is the intentional relinquishment of a known right. *Red Cliffs Corner, LLC v. J.J. Hunan, Inc.*, 2009 UT App 240, ¶ 33, 219 P.3d 619. Larsen Beverage knew of the potential reimbursement for medical expenses prior to entering into the Stipulated Order--it had asserted such a claim in its Answer. (R. at 40.) Even so, Larsen Beverage expressly approved the Stipulated Order, demonstrating its intent to relinquish that right by agreeing unconditionally to pay “all” medical expenses.

II. The Court May Similarly Reject Larsen Beverage's Arguments Regarding the Adequacy of the Order and Due Process Violation.

A. The Court need not consider the remaining issues presented by Larsen Beverage because they are raised for the first time on appeal and inadequately briefed.

The Court need not consider the two remaining issues raised by Larsen Beverage.

The first is the alleged violation of Larsen Beverage's due process rights. (Br. of Appellants at 2, 39-40.) The other, although not identified as an issue presented for review, (*see* Br. of Appellants at 1-2), is Larsen Beverage's claim that Order's factual findings and conclusions of law are inadequate, (Br. of Appellants at 38). The Court may disregard these issues for a number of reasons.

First, Larsen Beverage raises both the adequacy of the Order and due process issues for the first time on appeal. It does not appear from the Record that these issues were argued before either the ALJ or Labor Commission. The Court need not consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal. *Ortiz v. Indus. Comm'n of Utah*, 766 P.2d 1092, 1094 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). *See also State v. Dudley*, 847 P.2d 424, 426 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) ("[T]he proper forum in which to commence thoughtful and probing analysis of state constitutional interpretation is before the trial court, not . . . for the first time on appeal." (quotation marks omitted)). And Larsen Beverage has not argued that the exceptions to this rule (i.e., plain error or exceptional circumstances) are applicable in this case. *See State v. Hodges*, 2002 UT 117, ¶ 5, 63 P.3d 66.

In addition, Larsen Beverage has failed to comply with Rule 24(a)(5) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Larsen Beverage did not identify the standard of review for its third issue (adequacy of the Order) as required by Rule 24(a)(5). Additionally, Larsen Beverage failed to comply with subsection (A) of Rule 24(a)(5) which requires a “citation to the record showing that the issue [presented for review] was preserved” below. None of the three issues identified by Larsen Beverage includes the required citation. (*See* Br. of Appellants at 1-2, 38.). Courts need not address the merits of a party’s argument if the party’s brief fails to comply with Rule 24. *See, e.g.*, Utah R. App. P. 24(k); *Burns v. Summerhays*, 927 P.2d 197, 198-99 (Utah Ct. App. 1996).

Beyond the deficiencies described above, Larsen Beverage provides no citation to any authority for either of the two remaining issues, rendering the arguments inadequate. *See State v. Lee*, 2006 UT 5, ¶ 22, 128 P.3d 1179 (“An adequate brief is one that fully identifies and analyzes the issues with citation to relevant legal authority.”); *Burns v. Summerhays*, 927 P.2d 197, 199-200 (Utah Ct. App. 1996) (“In this case, in which the appellant has failed to provide adequate legal analysis and legal authority in support of his claims, appellant’s assertions do not permit appellate review.”). For example, Larsen Beverage does not specify whether its due process claim is made under the federal or state constitution. “For the court to consider a . . . constitutional claim, a litigant must at least define the nature of that protection and provide some argument as to how legal precedent supports its position.” *Midvale City Corp. v. Haltom*, 2003 UT 26, ¶ 74, 73 P.3d 334. “Mere allusion to . . . constitutional claims, unsupported by meaningful

analysis, does not permit appellate review.” *State v. Dudley*, 847 P.2d 424, 426 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). Larsen Beverage’s conclusory arguments do not permit appropriate review and the Court therefore need not consider them. Nevertheless, ERF addresses these issues below.

B. The Order contains adequate findings of fact and conclusions of law.

Larsen Beverage’s second point is that the Order does not contain adequate factual findings. (Br. of Appellants at 38.) Larsen Beverage also states that the Order is contrary to the evidence. (Br. of Appellants at 23.) But its argument is unavailing. “[F]indings of fact ‘must show that the court’s judgment or decree follows logically from, and is supported by, the evidence.’” *Strate v. Labor Comm’n*, 2006 UT App 179, ¶¶ 16, 21, 136 P.3d 1273. The Order follows logically from the evidence here, specifically the unambiguous terms of the parties’ written agreement. Further, if a litigant does not directly challenge any of the factual findings, appellate courts “will assume that they are supported by the record and [will] not disturb them.” *Ameritemps, Inc. v. Labor Comm’n*, 2005 UT App 491, ¶ 27, 128 P.3d 31.⁵

Judge La Jeunesse adopted in his Order the facts set forth in the Stipulated Order. The Stipulated Order clearly sets forth the underlying facts that resulted in a finding of permanent total disability and an award of benefits. (R. at 52-53.) The Stipulated Order

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